NO. 71005-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, V. GERARDO ARELLANO-GAMA, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY The Honorable Susan K. Cook, Judge BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER M. WINKLER Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court violated the appellant's constitutional right to a public trial by taking peremptory challenges privately.
- Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument denied the appellant a fair trial.
- The probation condition prohibiting possession of drug paraphernalia is unconstitutionally vague.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. During jury selection, the parties made peremptory challenges privately at a sidebar. Because the trial court did not analyze the Bone-Club¹ factors before conducting this important portion of voir dire in a private proceeding, did the trial court violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?
- 2. The State told jurors, orally and via PowerPoint presentation in closing, that to have a reasonable doubt as to the appellant's guilt, they had to (1) "say why there's a reason" for any such doubt and (2) be able to explain the reasoning to fellow jurors.

Where the appellant presented a plausible defense to a firearm charge and the State violated well-established precedent with an argument

¹ State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

previously held to improperly burden-shift, did flagrant, prosecutorial misconduct deny the appellant a fair trial?

3. Must the condition of probation prohibiting the appellant from possessing drug paraphernalia be stricken as unconstitutionally vague?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE²</u>

1. Charges, jury selection, verdicts, and sentence

The State charged appellant Gerardo Arellano Gama (Arellano) with first degree unlawful possession of a firearm (UPFA), being an "alien" in possession of a firearm, and driving under the influence (DUI). CP 1-2.

During jury selection, after the parties finished questioning potential jurors, the court directed the parties to make their peremptory challenges at a side bar. The court then called the jurors selected to serve to the box. Supp. RP at 24-25; Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 51, Trial minutes, at 3).

The court dismissed the second charge mid-trial for insufficient evidence. 2RP 98; CP 39. A jury convicted Arellano of the remaining charges. CP 36-37. It also entered special verdicts finding him guilty

 $^{^2}$ The brief refers to the verbatim reports as follows: 1RP - 5/15 and 9/23/2013; 2RP - 9/24, 9/25, and 10/10/2013; and Supp. RP - 9/23/2013 (voir dire afternoon session only).

based on driving a motor vehicle "under the influence of or affected by intoxicants" and having "a blood alcohol concentration of .08 or higher." CP 38.³

The court sentenced Arellano to 24 months on the firearm charge, within the standard range. On the DUI charge, the court sentenced him to 364 days of incarceration, with all but one day suspended, as well as 60 months of probation. CP 43; RCW 9.95.210; former RCW 46.61.5055(11) (2012).

2. Trial testimony

During the early morning hours of January 6, 2013, Sylvia Alvarez saw a white car drive into the parking lot of her Mount Vernon apartment complex at a high rate of speed. 1RP 49. The car was noisily dragging its bumper and it nearly hit a parked truck. 1RP 49, 56. Alvarez called 9-1-1. 1RP 52. A man emerged from the driver's seat and a woman emerged from the passenger seat. They entered an apartment. The man's gait suggested he was drunk. 1RP 51.

The man and the woman soon emerged from the apartment. The man got into the rear seat on the passenger's side and the woman got into

³ Although Arellano was charged under all three prongs of former RCW 46.61.502(1) (2011), one of which involves being "under the combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor or any drug," the State did not proceed under that prong. CP 2, 38.

the driver's seat.⁴ 1RP 53-54. Police arrived as the car was about to drive away. 1RP 54.

Officers Chester Curry and Zachary Wright both responded. 1RP 80-81; 2RP 75. Upon arrival, Curry saw a white Nissan Murano with a flat front tire and broken rim parked haphazardly in the lot. 1RP 80-81; 2RP 94.

Arellano emerged from the front passenger seat,⁵ and staggered past Curry toward an apartment. 1RP 84, 86. Arellano did not respond to Curry's command to stop. 1RP 87.

Wright looked in the Murano and saw a silver revolver on the front seat. 2RP 81-82. Wright described the gun as a small .22-caliber "pocket gun." 2RP 82.

Wright alerted Curry there was a gun in the car. 1RP 87. In response to Wright's comment, Arellano said, "that's nothing" or "that's no big deal." 1RP 89; 2RP 82. Arellano then "surged" toward the door, and the officers tackled and eventually handcuffed him. 1RP 87; 2RP 82.

⁴ The woman, Arellano's fiancée, was the registered owner. 1RP 86; 52RP 106

⁵ Like Alvarez, Curry initially testified Arellano got out of the rear passenger seat, 1RP 85, but later changed his testimony and said Arellano got out of the front passenger seat. 2RP 24-25, 35.

The officers arrested Arellano and, because he appeared intoxicated, took him to the police station for a breath test. 1RP 90; 2RP 8-15. Arellano tested well over the legal limit for blood alcohol. 1RP 90; 2RP 55.

Officer Wright was unfamiliar with guns of the type found in the car and gave the gun to Officer Curry to dismantle. 2RP 84, 91. Curry testified the gun was a revolver and was loaded with hollow point bullets.⁶ 2RP 21-23.

Arellano testified he remembered only portions of the evening before his arrest. He dropped off his fiancée and child at his cousin's house and went to a birthday party at a bowling alley. 2RP 100-01. He planned to pick up his family and go back to Arlington to his fiancée's house that night. 2RP 106. But Arellano drank heavily at the bowling alley. 2RP 112, 117. He did not recall leaving the bowling alley. 2RP 103-04. He only recalled three things the rest of the night: being taken to the ground by the police officers, being instructed to breathe deeply and then blowing into the breath test machine, and, finally, waking up in jail. 2RP 104, 114. Arellano acknowledged he had a juvenile assault conviction and was prohibited from possessing a firearm. 2RP 117-18. But Arellano had never seen or handled the gun before. 2RP 106.

⁶ Curry did not test the gun or have it sent out for testing. 2RP 38.

3. State's closing argument

In closing, the prosecutor argued the State was required to prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt, although it was not required to prove other disputed matters. 2RP 127. "The reasonable doubt you're evaluating is the elements of the crime." 2RP 127. He continued:

Instruction Number 3 . . . describes what reasonable doubt is. But it's a little bit circular. I like to look at it more of what the concept is Reasonable means there has to be reason. It's a doubt with a reason you can attach to it. In other words, you have to say why there's a reason that this doubt exists in my mind as a particular element. If you're going to find it's not proven beyond a reasonable doubt, if you don't have a reason that you can attach to that, that you can explain to your [fellow] jurors[,] then it's proven beyond a reasonable doubt, if there's not something you can attach to it.

2RP 127-28 (emphasis added). The prosecutor also showed jurors a PowerPoint slide featuring the following statements:

- It's a doubt with a REASON you can attach to it.
- A REASON you can explain to your fellow jurors.

Supp. CP ___ (sub no. 72, "State's Cover Page Closing," at 1).

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY HAVING THE ATTORNEYS EXERCISE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AT A PRIVATE SIDEBAR.

a. <u>Introduction to applicable law</u>

The Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 guarantee the accused a public trial by an impartial jury. Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 261-62, 906 P.2d 629 (1995). Additionally, article I, section 10 provides that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay." This latter provision gives the public and the press a right to open and accessible court proceedings. Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982).

While the right to a public trial is not absolute, a trial court may restrict the right only "under the most unusual circumstances." <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 259. Before a judge can close any part of a trial, it must first apply on the record the five factors set forth in <u>Bone-Club</u>. <u>In</u> re <u>Personal Restraint of Orange</u>, 152 Wn.2d 795, 806-07, 809, 100 P.3d

⁷ The Sixth Amendment provides in pertinent part that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury" Article I, section 22 provides in part that "[i]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury"

291 (2004). A violation of the right to a public trial is presumed prejudicial and is not subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 16-19, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012); State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 231, 217 P.3d 310 (2009); State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 181, 137 P.3d 825 (2006); Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 814.

b. Peremptory challenges are considered part of "voir dire," which must conducted openly.

The public trial right applies to "the process of juror selection," which 'is itself a matter of importance, not simply to the adversaries but to the criminal justice system." Id. at 804 (quoting Press-Enter. Co. v. Superior Court, 464 U.S. 501, 505, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984)). The exercise of peremptory challenges, governed by CrR 6.4, constitutes a part of "voir dire," to which the public trial right attaches. State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 328, 342-43, 298 P.3d 148 (2013); see also People v. Harris, 10 Cal.App.4th 672, 684, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d 758 (1992) (state and federal authority support conclusion that "peremptory challenge process is a part of the 'trial' to which a criminal defendant's constitutional right to a public trial extends"); accord, Hollis v. State, 221 Miss. 677, 74 So.2d 747 (1954) (to comply with state constitutional mandate of a public trial, peremptory challenges must be exercised at the bar, in open court, not at a private conference); cf. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 70-71, 77,

292 P.3d 715 (2012) (consistent with CrR 6.15, in-chambers discussion of jury's question posed during deliberations did not implicate public trial right); but see State v. Love, 176 Wn. App. 911, 917-19, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013) (Division Three case rejecting argument that public trial cases involving jury selection controlled the issue, and holding, based in part on case that predated Bone-Club, that "experience and logic" test did not require open exercise of peremptory challenges); State v. Dunn, ___ Wn. App. ___, 321 P.3d 1283 (Apr. 8, 2014) (Division Two case following Love).8

The right to a public trial is concerned with "circumstances in which the public's mere presence passively contributes to the fairness of the proceedings, such as deterring deviations from established procedures, reminding the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, and subjecting judges to the check of public scrutiny." State v. Bennett, 168 Wn. App. 197, 204, 275 P.3d 1224 (2012) (citing State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 514, 122 P.3d 150 (2005)). Although peremptory challenges may be exercised based on subjective feelings and opinions, there are important constitutional limits on both parties' exercise of such

⁸ A petition for review was filed in <u>Love</u> under case no. 89619-4. On April 4, 2014 this Court stayed consideration of the petition. A petition for review was filed in <u>Dunn</u> on May 7 and is set to be considered on August 5, 2014 under case no. 90238-1.

challenges. <u>Georgia v. McCollum</u>, 505 U.S. 42, 49, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992); <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). Based on these constitutional limitations, public scrutiny of the exercise of peremptory challenges is essential. The procedure in this case thus violated the right to a public trial.

 Sublett's "experience and logic test" requires open voir dire, which includes the exercise of peremptory challenges.

At issue in <u>Sublett</u> was whether the public trial rights of petitioners Sublett and Olsen were violated when the trial judge considered, in chambers and with counsel present, a question from the jury during its deliberations. <u>Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 65. During its deliberations, the jury submitted a question regarding the accomplice liability instruction. Counsel met in chambers to consider the question and agreed to the court's answer telling the jury to reread the instructions. <u>Id</u>. at 67.

The Court of Appeals held the right to a public trial does not extend to hearings on purely ministerial or legal issues that do not require the resolution of disputed facts. Because the jury's question involved a purely legal issue, consideration of the inquiry was not subject to the right to a public trial, so the defendants' rights were not violated. <u>Id</u>. at 67-68.

In a plurality opinion, the Supreme Court affirmed under a different theory. <u>Id</u>. at 72. Applying the "experience and logic" test, the

majority of justices held that resolution of the jury's question did not implicate the core values the public trial right serves. <u>Id</u>. (lead opinion); <u>id</u>. at 99-100 (Madsen, J., concurring); <u>id</u>. at 141-42 (Stephens, J., concurring). The right to a public trial serves to ensure a fair trial, to remind the prosecutor and judge of their responsibility to the accused and the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury. <u>Id</u>. at 72 (citing <u>Brightman</u>, 155 Wn.2d at 514).

Under the "experience" prong, the court asks whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public. The "logic" prong asks whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question. If the answer to both is yes, the public trial right attaches. <u>Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 73.

Applying this test to the jury inquiry addressed in chambers in Sublett and Olsen's cases, the Court observed that, historically, proceedings involving jury instructions have not been conducted in an open courtroom. Id. at 75. Moreover, by court rule, jury inquiries are to be submitted in writing. Id. at 76. Accordingly, the Court found the proceeding did not satisfy the first part of the test and concluded petitioners' public trial rights were not implicated. Id. at 77.

In contrast, voir dire is at issue in this case. It is well established that the right to a public trial extends to voir dire. Id. at 71; Strode, 167

Wn.2d at 226. The process of jury selection "is itself a matter of importance, not simply to the adversaries but to the criminal justice system." Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 804.

Moreover, the openness of jury selection clearly enhances core values of the public trial right, i.e. "both the basic fairness of the criminal trial and the appearance of fairness so essential to public confidence in the system." Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 75. Peremptory and for-cause challenges are an integral part of voir dire. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 342-43 (unlike potential juror excusals governed by CrR 6.3, exercise of peremptory challenges, governed by CrR 6.4, constitutes part of "voir dire," to which the public trial right attaches); see also Strode, 167 Wn.2d at 230 (for-cause challenges of six jurors in chambers not de minimus violation of public trial right).

In summary, although cases clearly hold that voir dire must be open, the experience and logic test is also satisfied because historically, voir dire has been conducted in open court. Moreover, openness clearly enhances the basic fairness of the proceeding.

The State may nonetheless rely on Division Three's decision in Love, 176 Wn. App. 911, for the proposition that under the experience and logic test, exercising peremptory challenges privately does not violate the right to public trial. The Love decision, however, is poorly reasoned.

Regarding the experience prong, the Court noted the absence of evidence that, historically, peremptory challenges were made in open court. Love, 176 Wn. App. at 917-18. But history would not necessarily reveal common practice unless the parties made an issue of the employed practice. History does not tell us these challenges were commonly done in private, either. Moreover, before Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, there were likely many common, but unconstitutional, practices that ceased with issuance of that decision.

Love cites to one case, State v. Thomas, 16 Wn. App. 1, 553 P.2d 1357 (1976), as "strong evidence that peremptory challenges can be conducted in private." Love, 176 Wn. App. at 918. Thomas rejected the argument that "Kitsap County's use of secret – written – peremptory jury challenges" violated the defendant's right to a fair and public trial where the defendant had failed to cite to any supporting authority. Thomas, 16 Wn. App. at 13.

Notably, <u>Thomas</u> predates <u>Bone-Club</u> by nearly 20 years. Moreover, the fact that Thomas challenged the practice suggests it was atypical even at the time. Labeling <u>Thomas</u> "strong evidence" is an overstatement.

Regarding logic, the Court could think of no manner in which exercising peremptory challenges in public furthered the right to fair trial, concluding instead that a written record of the challenges sufficed. Love, 176 Wn.2d at 919-20. But the Court fails to mention or consider the increased risk of discrimination against protected classes of jurors resulting from private exercise of peremptory challenges. As discussed below, the later filing of a written document from which the source of peremptory challenges might be deciphered is not an adequate substitute for simultaneous public oversight. See State v. Sadler, 147 Wn. App. 97, 116, 193 P.3d 1108 (2008) ("Few aspects of a trial can be more important . . . than whether the prosecutor has excused jurors because of their race, an issue in which the public has a vital interest.").

Citing to a Bar Association directory, the <u>Thomas</u> court noted that "several counties" had employed Kitsap County's practice. <u>Thomas</u>, 16 Wn. App. at 13 n. 2. Ignoring the questionable methodology of what appears to an informal poll, that only "several counties" had used the method certainly leaves open the possibility a majority of Washington's 39 counties did not use it, even before <u>Bone-Club</u> and later cases requiring an open process.

d. The procedure in this case was, in fact, closed to the public.

Even if the procedure occurred in an otherwise open courtroom, any assertion that the procedure was, in fact, public, should be rejected. The procedure was an unreported sidebar, which occurs outside of the public's scrutiny, and thus violates the appellant's right to a fair and public trial. State v. Slert, 169 Wn. App. 766, 774 n. 11, 282 P.3d 101 (2012) (rejecting argument that no violation occurred if jurors were actually dismissed not in chambers but at a sidebar and stating "if a side-bar conference was used to dismiss jurors, the discussion would have involved dismissal of jurors for case-specific reasons and, thus, was a portion of jury selection held wrongfully outside Slert's and the public's purview"), review granted, 176 Wn.2d 1031 (2013); see also Harris, 10 Cal.App.4th at 684 (exercise of peremptory challenges in chambers violates defendant's right to a public trial). The procedure the court utilized was as closed to the public as if it had taken place in chambers.

e. A record made after-the-fact record does not cure the error.

Despite an after-the-fact record, the trial court violated the right to a public trial in the first instance by taking peremptory challenges in the manner described the above. First, generally speaking, the availability of a record of an improperly closed voir dire fails to cure the error. State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 32, 37, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012); see also Harris, 10 Cal.App.4th at 684 (holding, based on application of federal law, that after-the-fact availability of transcripts of peremptory challenges conducted in chambers does not cure public trial violation or render those proceedings "public); cf. People v. Williams, 26 Cal.App.4th Supp. 1, 6-8, 31 Cal.Rptr.2d 769 (1994) (peremptory challenge could be held at sidebar if challenge and party making it was then *immediately* announced in open court).

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