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

the backseat or not. I'll submit to you I have a different 
explanation than the defense has about circumstances, about 
where the defendant was in the vehicle when the officers 
pulled him out. 

9/24/13 RP 159-60. 

No objection was made by defense to the State's argument or the 

content of the slide. 9/24/13 RP 127-8, 159-60. 

iv. Community Custody Condition at Sentencing 

The State sought conditions of supervision on the Driving While 

under the Influence of Intoxicants charge. 1011 0/13 RP 178. The trial court 

imposed the Appendix B- DUI conditions. CP 51-2. Condition 13 provided: 

"Defendant shall not possess any drug paraphernalia." CP 51. 

Arellano-Gama did not object to the appendix or any conditions. 

1011 0/13 RP 173-4, 178. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

1. Peremptory challenges at sidebar in the open courtroom do 
not amount to a violation of the right to public trial. 

Arellano-Gama contends the exercise of the peremptory challenges 

at sidebar was in violation of his right to open court proceedings. Brief of 

Appellant at pages 7-17. 

The State contends exercise of peremptory challenges at sidebar 

conference was not a violation of the right to open court proceedings. 
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Article 1, Section 22 guarantees a criminal defendant the right to a public 

trial. State v. Lomor, 172 Wn.2d 85,90-91,257 P.3d 624 (2011). Whether 

there is a right to public trial violation is a question of law reviewed de novo. 

State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 147,217 P.3d 321 (2009). Jury selection is 

considered part of a criminal trial that is subject to the defendant's 

constitutional right to a public proceeding. State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 

227,217 P.3d 310 (2009), State v. Bennett, 168 Wn. App. 197,204,275 

P.3d 1224 (2102) (public trial right encompasses "circumstances in which 

the public's mere presence passively contributes to the fairness of the 

proceedings, such as deterring deviations from established procedures, 

reminding the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, and 

subjecting judges to the check of public scrutiny"). The right to a public trial 

applies to voir dire. In re Personal Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn. 2d 795, 

804, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). 

To implicate the right to a public trial, a courtroom closure must have 

occurred. State v. Njonge, 161 Wn. App. 568, 575, 255 P.3d 753 (2011). 

Courtroom closures may be express, State v. Easterling, 157 Wn. 2d 167, 

172, 137 P.3d 825 (2006), or implied. State v. Strode, 167 Wn. 2d 222, 227, 

217 P.3d 310 (2009). "[A] 'closure' of the courtroom occurs when the 

courtroom is completely and purposely closed to spectators so that no one 
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may enter and no one may leave." State v. Lormor, 172 Wn. 2d 85, 93, 257 

P.3d 624 (2011). 

Whether a particular portion of a court proceeding is encompassed 

by the public trial right is determined by the application of the "experience 

and logic" test. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 114, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). 

In Sublett, the court explained the "experience and logic" test requires courts 

to determine the necessity for closure by consideration of both history and 

the purposes of the open trial provision. Sublett" 176 Wn.2d at 73, 292 P.3d 

715. The experience portion of the test asks whether the practice in question 

has historically been open to the public, while the logic portion of the test 

focuses on whether public access is significant to the functioning of the 

public trial right. Id. If both prongs of this test are met, then the court must 

apply the Boneclub factors before the court can close the courtroom. Id. 

Applying the logic and experience test in Sublett" the Court found 

that the public trial right does not attach to counsel meeting in chambers to 

answer a question from a deliberating jury. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 75. 

The Court reasoned that such proceedings have not historically been done in 

an open courtroom and the court's answer to the jury was recorded in 

writing, thus becoming part of the public record, necessarily reminding the 

court and counsel of their responsibilities and providing necessary oversight. 

See, State v. Sublett, at 75-77. 
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Applying the Sublett logic and experience test to this case there is no 

evidence that the courtroom was closed to anyone at the time that the sidebar 

occurred. The jurors and parties were all in the same courtroom and the 

public could enter and leave the courtroom while the sidebar occurred. 

Under the Sublett logic and experience test, the record reflects use of a 

sidebar in open court does not implicate public trial rights. RP 5113113 119-

123. Jury selection in this case was completed in open court and there is a 

written record of all actions taken by the court and counsel pertaining to both 

peremptory and for cause challenges that were completed at the sidebar in 

open court. Arellano-Gama fails to cite to any authority that demonstrates 

historically for-cause and peremptory challenges have as a matter of routine, 

historically been done publicly. 

To the contrary, in State v. Love, Division Three pointed out that the 

use of written peremptory challenges was a practice used by many counties 

historically and that there is little evidence to demonstrate in Washington 

that voir dire challenges are traditionally completed in open court within 

earshot of the public. State v. Love, 176 Wn. App. 911, 918-919, 309 P.3d 

1209 (2013), citing State v. Thomas, 16 Wn. App. 1, 13, 553 P.2d 1357 

(1976), see also, Popoffv. Matt, 14 Wn.2d 1,9, 126 P.2d 597 (1942), (where 

the record describes a bench conference during voir dire on whether to 

excuse a juror for cause); State v. Wolfe, 343 S.W.2d 10, 14 (Missouri, 1961) 
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(objection during voir dire). That is not to say that the exercise of 

peremptory and for cause challenges should not be open to public scrutiny. 

Only that such scrutiny has historically been through written documentation 

through clerk's notes or transcripts of open court where potential venire 

persons are not present. In this case the transcript reflects that peremptory 

challenges were taken at the bench conference. These actions sufficiently 

provide the oversight necessary to ensure the court and counsel acted 

responsibly in ensuring Rodriguez obtained a fair trial by an impartial jury 

and in considering public trial rights. 

The logic prong also does not suggest jury selection challenges 

should be conducted openly in public. Requiring the parties to make 

peremptory challenges in open court in front of the venire panel does nothing 

to further the underpinnings of public trial rights such as encouraging 

witnesses to come forward or otherwise providing public oversight of the 

process. It also may not be desired by the parties because they don't want 

the remaining jurors to draw inferences from the motives of a party 

exercising a particular peremptory challenge. The issues presented during 

voir dire challenges are legal in nature and directed to the judge to decide. 

Division Three of the Court of Appeals in State v. Love, expressly 

found that conducting peremptory challenges did not violate the defendant's 

right to an open public trial because it did not close the courtroom. State v. 
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Love, 176 Wn. App. at 920, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013). Similarly, in State v. 

Dunn, Division Two of the Court of Appeals followed the same reasoning: 

We agree with Division Three that experience and logic do 
not suggest that exercising peremptory challenges at the 
clerk's station implicates the public trial right. Accordingly, 
we hold that the trial court did not violate Dunn's public trial 
right and we affirm. 

State v. Dunn, 180 Wn. App. 570, 575, 321 P.3d 1283 (2014). 

Petitions for review have been filed by the defendants in both Love 

and Dunn. The Supreme Court has deferred ruling on the petitions for 

review pending a final decision in Supreme Court No. 85809-8, State of 

Washington v. William Glen Smith.2 

Decisions on the petitions for review in the cases of State v. Love, 

and State v. Dunn, have been deferred by the Supreme Court pending the 

issuance of a decision in the case of State v. Smith. 3 The oral argument date 

on that case was October 15,2013. The issue the Supreme Court concerned 

itself with in that case was whether sidebars in general are subject to open 

courtroom claims. 

2 See State v. Love, Wa. Supreme Court No. 89619-4,2014 Wash. LEXIS 304, 1 (Wash. 
Apr. 4, 2014), State v. Dunn, Wa. Supreme Court No. 90238-1, 2014 Wash. LEXIS 597, 1 
(Wash. Aug. 6,2014). 
3 See Supplemental Brief filed in the that case: 

Petitioner: 
http://www.courts.wa.gov/contentlBriefs/A08/858098%20supplementa1% 
20brieflIo20oflIo20Petitioner%20William%20Smith.pdf 

Respondent: 
http://www .courts. wa.gov /contentIBriefs/ A08/858098%20supplemental% 
20briefllo20ofllo2Orespondent.pdf 
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Meanwhile, the preponderance of the present case law supports the 

conclusion that the trial court did not close the courtroom by conducting use 

of peremptory challenges at sidebar in an open courtroom. 

2. Closing argument explaining what reason is does not amount 
to misconduct. 

Arellano-Gama also contends the prosecutor's closing argument 

amounted to misconduct4 by improperly shifting the burden of proof to the 

defendant. Brief Appellant at page 20-1. 

4 The State believes the term prosecutorial misconduct is misleading. Although a 
term of art, it is misleading to members of the general pUblic. Misconduct should be 
reserved for intentional or at least reckless conduct. 

"Prosecutorial misconduct" is a term of art but is really a 
misnomer when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during 
trial. If prosecutorial mistakes or actions are not harmless and deny a 
defendant fair trial, then the defendant should get a new one. Attorney 
misconduct, on the other hand, is more appropriately related to 
violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct. 

State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 740 n. 1,202 P.3d 937 (2009). Courts in other jurisdictions 
have recently recognized the unfairness of labeling every mistake made by a prosecutor as 
"misconduct." See State v. Fauci, 282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. 
Maiuia, 107 Haw. 20, 108 P.3d 974, 979-981 (2005); State v. Leutschaji, 759 N.W.2d 414, 
418 (Minn. App. 2009), rev. denied, 2009 Minn. LEXIS 196 (Minn., Mar. 17,2009). The 
more appropriate term would be prosecutorial error. 

[T]he American Bar Association and NDAA urges trial and appellate 
courts reviewing the conduct of prosecutors, while assuring that a 
defendant's rights are fully protected, to use the term "error" where it 
more accurately characterizes that conduct than the term "prosecutorial 
misconduct. " 

National District Attorneys Association, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of 
"Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10 2010) 
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The State contends that the argument properly expressed an 

evaluation of what the term "reason" means in the reasonable doubt 

standard. Furthermore, there was not a shifting of the burden of proof. 

In reviewing the claim, this Court must be viewed in the context of 

the entire argument, the issues, evidence and instructions. State v. Dhaliwal, 

150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003), citing, State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 

529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). Contrary to that requirement, Arellano-

Gama parses out the comment by removing sections of the argument, infers 

certain additional terms and shows only a part of the PowerPoint slide 

shown. Brief of Appellant at page 6. 

Although the full closing argument must be evaluated, just the 

portion of the paragraphs before shows the prosecutor was contrasting 

reasonable doubt applies to elements of the offenses and explaining reason in 

terms of logic. 

Then you get a reasonable doubt standard in evaluating upon 
now whether these things that have been shown to you, the 
evidence that you have, satisfies you that the law has been 
proven, the elements of the crime have been proven to you 
beyond a reasonable doubt. I will say that a second time, the 
elements of the crime to you have been proven beyond a 
reasonable doubt. You don't have to have reasonable doubt 
with respect to things that are not an element of the crime, but 
whether it was raining or not is immaterial to the elements of 
the crime. So you might have a reasonable doubt about that, a 
reasonable doubt about how bright it was outside in that 
parking lot. But those are not elements of the crime. The 
reasonable doubt you're evaluating is the elements of the 
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crime. And then based on your evaluation of this you attempt 
to return a verdict and come back to court with that verdict. 

So in doing that, you're applying that reasonable 
doubt standard. And you get an instruction about reasonable 
doubt, Instruction Number 3, which describes what 
reasonable doubt is. But it's a little bit circular. I like to look 
at it more of what that concept is and think about it in 
breaking it down. Reasonable means there has to be a reason. 
It's a doubt with a reason you can attach to it. In other words, 
you have to say why there's a reason that this doubt exists in 
my mind as a particular element. If you're going to find it's 
not proven beyond a reasonable doubt, if you don't have any 
reason that you can attach to that, that you can explain to 
your jurors then it's proven beyond a reasonable doubt, if 
there's not something you can attach to it. 

9/24/13 RP 127-8. 

The State's Closing included a PowerPoint presentation that included 

the following: 

CONCEPT OF REASONABLE 
DOUBT 

Reasonable = REASON 

• It's a doubt with a REASON you 
can attach to it. 

• A REASON you can explain to 
your fellow jurors. 

CP 68. See Appendix B. 

When viewed in context, the prosecutor was explaining reason in 

terms of something that can be explained. It did not suggest the jury was 

required to convict if they did not find a reason. 

Arellano-Gama cites primarily to two cases ill support of a 

contention of misconduct. 
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In State v. Anderson a number of questionable arguments were noted 

by the reviewing court. One which Arellano-Gama compares to the 

argument in the present case was determined to improperly shift the burden 

of proof. 

The prosecutor's statement that "in order to find the 
defendant not guilty, you have to say 'I don't believe the 
defendant is guilty because,' and then you have to fill in the 
blank," was improper. 4 RP at 327-28. The jury need not 
engage in any such thought process. By implying that the 
jury had to fmd a reason in order to fmd Anderson not 
guilty, the prosecutor made it seem as though the jury 
had to fmd Anderson guilty unless it could come up with 
a reason not to. Because we begin with a presumption of 
innocence, this implication that the jury had an initial 
affirmative duty to convict was improper. Furthermore, this 
argument implied that Anderson was responsible for 
supplying such a reason to the jury in order to avoid 
conviction. 

State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417,431,220 P.3d 1273 (2009) (bold 

emphasis added). 

In contrast, here there was no urging to have the jury find something 

in order to find him not guilty. 

Furthermore, despite this and a number of other improper closing 

arguments in Anderson, the Court of Appeals determined in that case it was 

not reversible error. 

Despite the impropriety of these comments, however, 
Anderson failed to object below and has failed to 
demonstrate that these comments were so flagrant or ill 
intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the 
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prejudice. The trial court's instructions regarding the 
presumption of innocence minimized any negative impact on 
the jury. Again, we presume the jury follows the trial court's 
instructions. 8 Hopson, 113 Wn.2d at 287. 

State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417,432,220 P.3d 1273 (2009). 

Similarly, State v. Emery cited by Arellano-Gama was not a case 

with an argument similar to the present case. 

In Emery, the prosecutor made a number of improper arguments 

including a "fill in the blank" argument of reasonable doubt. 

The prosecutor made the following statements m 
closing: 

[I]n order for you to find the defendant not guilty, you 
have to ask yourselves or you'd have to say, quote, I 
doubt the defendant is guilty, and my reason is blank. 
A doubt for which a reason exists. If you think that 
you have a doubt, you must fill in that blank. 

State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 750-51, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The court 

went on to find both this "fill in the blank" argument as well as another 

argument requiring the jury to "speak the truth" were improper. State v. 

Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-1, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). 

However the court found that the defendants failed to show the 

requisite prejudice where there was no objection to the argument. 

If the defendant did not object at trial, the defendant is 
deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's 
misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an 
instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. State 
v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). 
Under this heightened standard, the defendant must show that

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